1969

## **Max M. Johnson v. John W. Turner, Warden, Utah State Prison : Brief of Petitioner-Appellant**

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the decision of the Fourth Judicial District Court in and for Utah County, State of Utah, the Honorable Allen B. Sorensen, presiding, which denied the petitioner's application for a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus on the grounds that the Petition was repetitive of issues previously considered by the Fourth Judicial District Court and the Third Judicial District Court and that said Petition for the Writ of Habeas Corpus was a means used by the petitioner for seeking review of his conviction which action is contrary to the law of the State of Utah. Petitioner-appellant would contend that this ruling, by failing to consider the merits of his Petition, denied the petitioner consideration of the substantial constitutional

claim presented by said Petition and to which petitioner is entitled by the Constitution and Laws of the State of Utah and by the Constitution of the United States of America. By this appeal, the petitioner requests this Court to consider the constitutional questions raised in his Petition and to grant his application for a Writ of Habeas Corpus.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

As a result of a jury trial held February 8, 1968, in the City and County Building in Provo, Utah, the petitioner was convicted of the crime of grand larceny, to wit: the theft of an electric guitar having a value in excess of \$50.00. During the afternoon portion of the trial, the defendant offered testimony from Kenneth Smith that was barred by rulings of the Trial Court on the grounds that it was hearsay evidence. A proffer of proof was made to the effect that the owner of the guitar, Dan Newell, had stated to Kenneth Smith that Max M. Johnson had the permission of said Dan Newell to take the allegedly stolen guitar from Dan Newell's store. On February 13, 1968, the attorney for the petitioner, Leon M. Frazier, Esq., moved the Trial Court for a new trial, said motion being based on the contention that the Trial Court's refusal to admit the proffered testimony of Kenneth Smith prevented the petitioner from having a fair and impartial trial by dint of the fact that he was erroneously prevented from presenting witnesses on his own behalf. The Affidavit of Kenneth Smith was attached to the Motion, describing the testimony he would give if allowed to testify. In essence, he would have testified that Dan Jerald Newell had told Kenneth Smith that he, Dan Newell, had given Max M. Johnson permission to take and raise money with the guitar which had been allegedly stolen by said Max M. Johnson, but that said Dan Newell was dissatisfied with the way Max M. Johnson had disposed of the guitar. This testimony had been proffered by and on behalf of Max M. Johnson during the course of the trial, but it had been barred by the Trial Court (Tr. 56-59). The testimony of Kenneth Smith would have been evidence of a statement which was directly contrary to the testimony given by Dan Newell during the course of the trial, (Tr. 9, 11, 16, 17, 18,

19, 20, 21) as to whether or not Max M. Johnson had permission to take the guitar in question from Dan Newell's store. On March 1, 1968, after hearing the arguments and considering the matter, Judge Sorensen denied the Motion for a New Trial, and sentenced the petitioner for the term of not less than one nor more than ten years to the Utah State Prison. No appeal was taken.

Thereafter, on the 16th day of October, 1968, petitioner filed a Writ for Petition of Habeas Corpus in the District Court in and for Utah County, challenging the aforesaid conviction for grand larceny. On the 9th day of January, 1969, the Honorable Joseph E. Nelson of the Fourth Judicial District Court in and for Utah County, State of Utah, signed an Order effecting the transfer of that Petition for a Writ of Habeas Corpus to the Third Judicial District Court in and for Salt Lake County for further consideration. The matter was there assigned to the Honorable Stewart M. Hanson, who ordered a hearing set on the petitioner's application for the Writ of Habeas Corpus for the 30th day of January, 1969, at 9:00 A. M., and assigned the Salt Lake County Bar Legal Services, Inc. to represent the petitioner. LeRoy S. Axland, Esq., an attorney from that office, represented Mr. Johnson at that hearing and after hearing testimony and considering the matter, Judge Hanson denied the application for the Writ of Habeas Corpus by an Order dated January 31, 1969. Thereafter, on the 14th day of February, 1969, LeRoy S. Axland withdrew as counsel for petitioner. On March 1, 1969, the petitioner attempted to appeal Judge Hanson's decision to this Court, but the time for appeal having run, the appeal was dismissed and the matter remanded by an Order issued March 18, 1969. The issues raised and determined by Judge Hanson are others than those raised in the instant application for a Writ of Habeas Corpus.



Thereafter, on July 1, 1969, the instant Petition for the Writ of Habeas Corpus was filed in the Fourth Judicial District Court in and for Utah County, State of Utah, alleging as grounds for the application for said Writ of Habeas Corpus the denial of a fair trial by reason of Judge Sorensen's ruling which barred the testimony of said Kenneth Smith. This issue had not been raised in the application for the Writ of Habeas Corpus heard by Judge Hanson. By an Order signed on the 2nd day of July, 1969, Judge Allen B. Sorensen of the Fourth Judicial District Court in and for Utah County, State of Utah, dismissed the instant application for the Writ of Habeas Corpus on the grounds that: (1) the matters raised therein were issues that should have been raised on appeal, and (2) the application for a Writ was a repetitive application for a Writ of Habeas Corpus. On July 8th, 1969, the petitioner filed his Notice of Appeal and the record was transmitted to this Court on July 31, 1969.

#### DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

On February 8, 1968, a jury convicted petitioner Max M. Johnson of the crime of grand larceny. On February 13, 1968, the attorney for the petitioner, Leon M. Hrazier, Esq., moved the Trial Court for a new trial. After a hearing held March 1, 1969, the Motion for the New Trial was denied and the defendant was sentenced to a sentence of from one to ten years in the Utah State Prison. No appeal was taken from this conviction despite the fact that a Motion for a New Trial had been made and denied. Thereafter, on October 16, 1968, the petitioner filed a Motion for Writ of Habeas Corpus in the District Court in and for Utah County, challenging the aforesaid conviction for grand larceny. On the 9th day of January, 1969, said application for the Writ of Habeas Corpus was transferred from the Fourth Judicial District Court to the Third Judicial District Court and on the 30th day of January, 1969,

a hearing into the merits of that petition was held before the Honorable Stewart M. Hanson, a Judge of the Third Judicial District Court after which the application for the Writ of Habeas Corpus was denied. On March 1, 1969, the petitioner attempted to appeal that denial to this Court, but the time for appeal had run and the appeal was dismissed. Thereafter, on July 1st, 1969, the instant Petition for the Writ of Habeas Corpus was filed in the Fourth Judicial District Court in and for Utah County, State of Utah, alleging as grounds for the application for said Writ of Habeas Corpus grounds that had not been alleged in nor passed upon as part of the proceedings on previous application for the Writ of Habeas Corpus. This application for the Writ of Habeas Corpus was denied by the Honorable Allen B. Sorensen, Judge of said Court, in an Order signed July 2, 1969. This denial and dismissal was made on the grounds that the matters raised in this Petition are issues that should have been raised on appeal and that the application for the Writ of Habeas Corpus was a repetitive application for Writ of Habeas Corpus. On the 8th day of July, 1969, the petitioner filed his Notice of Appeal and the record was transmitted to this Court.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

This Court should find that the petitioner was denied a fair trial as a result of the denial of his constitutional right to present witnesses on his own behalf and grant the petitioner's application for a Writ of Habeas Corpus.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

THE DENIAL OF DUE PROCESS THAT OCCURRED  
IN THE PROCEEDINGS IN THIS MATTER PRE-

SENT SUBSTANTIAL CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUES WHICH SHOULD BE EXAMINED BY THIS COURT BY MEANS OF THIS APPLICATION FOR A WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS.

In the case of Bryant v. Turner, 19 U. 2d 284, 431 P. 2d 121 (1967), this Court articulated the rule governing the situation presented by this appeal:

" . . . The writ is, as our rules describe it, an extraordinary writ, to be used to protect one who is restrained of his liberty where there exists no jurisdiction or authority, or where the requirements of the law have been so ignored or distorted that the party is substantially and effectively denied what is included in the term due process of law, or where some other such circumstance exists that it would be wholly unconscionable not to re-examine the conviction." 19 U. 2d at 286-287, 431 P. 2d at 122. (Emphasis added).

That case involved the issue which must be first determined by this Court; that is, whether or not the issues raised in this application for the Writ of Habeas Corpus will be considered by this Court when they are matters that could have been raised in an appeal of the petitioner's conviction. In the Bryant v. Turner decision, this Court restated the longstanding rule of this Court that the Writ of Habeas Corpus cannot be used as a substitute for an appeal. However, as stated by the Court in the language quoted above, there are exceptions to the rule; that is, where the situation is an extraordinary one and where good conscience requires an examination of the commitment, this Court will examine the proceedings to determine if the commitment is proper. The explanation of this rule

was well articulated by Chief Justice Wolfe in Thompson v. Harris, 106 Utah 32, 144 P. 2d 761 (1943), rehearing denied, 107 Utah 99, 152 P. 2d 91, cert. denied, 324 U. S. 845, 89 L. Ed. 1406, 65 S. Ct. 676:

"It is often stated that the scope of review on habeas corpus is limited to examination of the jurisdiction of the court whose judgment of conviction is questioned. We must never lose sight, however, of the fact that habeas corpus is the precious safeguard of personal liberty. That jurisdictional questions only are reachable by the writ is not such an inflexible rule as cannot yield to exceptional circumstances. It may be better to say that the rule which apparently limits the scope of the writ to jurisdictional questions is not a rule of limitation, but a rule defining the appropriate spheres in which the power should be exercised. Thus, it has been held that the writ will lie if the petitioner has been deprived of one of his constitutional rights, such as due process of law." 106 Utah at \_\_\_\_\_, 144 P. 2d at 766.

It is respectfully submitted by petitioner that there are two grounds in the record of this case for consideration of matters in a constitutional sphere in which petitioner was denied those rights encompassed in the phrase "due process of law" as expressed in the Constitution and Laws of the State of Utah and the Constitution of the United States of America as hereinafter set forth:

A. PETITIONER WAS DENIED DUE PROCESS OF LAW IN THAT HE WAS DENIED EFFECTIVE COUNSEL AS GUARANTEED BY SECTION 12 OF ARTICLE I OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE

STATE OF UTAH AND THE SIXTH AMENDMENT TO THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA APPLIED TO THE STATES BY THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT TO THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, IN THAT PETITIONER WAS NOT INFORMED OF HIS RIGHT TO APPEAL AND HOW HE HAD TO PROCEED TO PROTECT THAT APPEAL.

The record in this matter shows that the petitioner was convicted of the crime of grand larceny on February 8, 1968. On February 13, 1968, a Motion for a New Trial was filed supported by an Affidavit of Kenneth Smith. The Motion for New Trial was denied on March 1st of 1969. There is no indication in the transcript or any of the record of the proceedings that the petitioner was advised that to preserve the grounds and matters raised in his Motion for New Trial, he must appeal that issue to this Court. His ignorance of what was required to appeal is demonstrated by the subsequent events of this record. To challenge this conviction on his own, the petitioner filed on the 16th day of October, 1968, a Petition for a Writ of Habeas Corpus in the District Court in and for Utah County.<sup>1</sup> That Petition was denied, after hearing, on the 30th day of January, 1969. The petitioner tried to appeal his conviction, but after the attorney appointed to represent him at the hearing on his Petition withdrew, he did not know the necessary steps to perfect his appeal and as a result his appeal was dismissed for failure to follow the proper procedure. After the denial and dismissal of the instant Petition, petitioner properly perfected his appeal having learned the rules as a result of the prior proceedings. From this, in challenging his conviction for grand larceny, that Petitioner did not allege any of the issues raised in the instant Petition or raised in the Motion for New Trial.

it is quite apparent that the petitioner had no knowledge and was not advised as to the proper procedures for appeal. Inasmuch as petitioner had counsel at his trial, who made the proffer of proof and motion for a new trial to protect the record for appeal, but who failed to file a notice of appeal or advise the petitioner to do so, petitioner would contend that he was denied his constitutional right to counsel as guaranteed by Section 12, Article I of the Constitution of the State of Utah and the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the United States of America.

This right was most recently examined by this Court in the case of Alires v. Turner, 22 Utah 2d 118, 449 P. 2d 241 (1969). In that decision, this Court held that by the provisions of Section 12, Article I, of the Utah Constitution and by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the United States of America, one is entitled to counsel not just in the terms of having somebody physically present, but counsel actively interested in and working for the client:

" . . . we think the only reasonable conclusion to be drawn therefrom is that if petitioner had had counsel actively interested in protecting his rights, the result may have been more favorable to him. "

"The right of an accused to have counsel as assured by Sec. 12, Art. I, Utah Constitution, and by the VI and XIV Amendments to the U. S. Constitution is one of those rights 'rooted in the traditions and conscience of our people,' as essential to the protection of individual liberties and therefore included in our concept of due process of law. The requirement is not satisfied

by a sham or pretense of an appearance in the record by an attorney who manifests no real concern about the interests of the accused. The entitlement is to the assistance of a competent member of the Bar, who shows a willingness to identify himself with the interests of the defendant and present such defenses as are available to him under the law as consistent with the ethics of the profession. "

"The failure of such representation for the petitioner herein is a departure from due process of law. This has been recognized as one of the exceptions from the finality of judgments and which may therefore be attacked collaterally under habeas corpus. " 22 Utah 2d at 21, 449 P. 2d at 243.

In the instant case, examination of the trial record shows that competent counsel assisted petitioner in the trial of the case. There is no question about this. However, the issue now presented to this Court is that of competent counsel in regard to the right to appeal.

While this Court has not had an occasion to consider this question, it has been the subject of several opinions by the Supreme Court of the United States of America. In Douglas v. California, 372 U. S. 353, 9 L. Ed. 2d 811, 83 S. Ct. 814 (1963), it was held that an indigent appellant was entitled to counsel in appealing his conviction. This was expanded by Anders v. California, 386 U. S. 738, 18 L. Ed. 2d 493, 87 S. Ct. 1396 (1967) reh. den. 388 U. S. 924, 18 L. Ed. 2d 1377, 87 S. Ct. 2094 (1967), which held that appointed counsel could withdraw only under certain specified conditions. In Swenson v. Bosler, 386 U. S. 258, 18 L. Ed. 2d 33, 87 S. Ct. 996 (1967), it was held that failure of a State to appoint counsel to an indigent accused to appeal his conviction

constituted a denial of his right to counsel and Due Process of Law. The decisions in Hardy v. United States, 375 U. S. 277, 11 L. Ed. 2d 331, 84 S. Ct. 424 (1964), motion for modif. den. 376 U. S. 936, 11 L. Ed. 2d 657, 84 S. Ct. 790, Douglas v. Green, 363 U. S. 192, 4 L. Ed. 2d 1142, 80 S. Ct. 1048 (1960), and Burns v. Ohio, 360 U. S. 252, 3 L. Ed. 2d 1209, 79 S. Ct. 1164 (1959), held that an indigent appellant was entitled to a free copy of the transcript and record for appeal and Smith v. Bennett, 365 U. S. 708, 6 L. Ed. 2d 39, 81 S. Ct. 895 (1962), Douglas v. Green, supra, and Burns v. Ohio, supra, held that requiring payment of filing fees of indigent defendants could not be upheld as being in accord with a due process right to appeal. It would therefore be submitted by petitioner that Due Process and the constitutional requirements of counsel would require that either the Trial Court or counsel must be required to advise an accused that he has a right to appeal and must further advise him how to protect that right or the accused has effectively been denied his right to counsel on appeal as well as his right to appeal itself. This is obviously true in any jurisdiction that has a rule such as does the State of Utah that will not allow an application for a Writ of Habeas Corpus to raise issues other than extraordinary issues, which could have or should have been raised on appeal. Failure to inform and protect this right of appeal is a denial of Due Process of Law.

B. PETITIONER WAS DENIED HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS OF LAW IN THAT HE WAS DENIED HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO HAVE WITNESSES TESTIFY ON HIS BEHALF.

One of the procedural protections encompassed by the phrase, Due Process of Law secured to those accused of crimes in the State of Utah by Article I, Section 12, of the Constitution of the State of Utah, as enacted into law by Section 77-1-8(5), Utah Code Annotated 1953, and further



secured by the Sixth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States of America as applied to the states by the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States of America, is the right:

" . . . to have compulsory process to compel the attendance of witnesses in his own behalf." Article I, Section 12, Constitution of the State of Utah.

This is enacted into the laws of Utah by subsection (5) of Section 77-1-8, Utah Code Annotated 1953:

" . . . to have process to compel the attendance of witnesses in his own behalf. "

and into the Constitution of the United States of America the Sixth Amendment, which provides:

" . . . to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor, . . . "

and is applied to the States by the Fourteenth Amendment. Washington v. Texas, 388 U. S. 14, 18 L. Ed. 2d 1019, 87 S. Ct. 1920 (1967). The similarity of the wording and meaning of these provisions is obvious. Each of them is intended to convey the same meaning, protect the same right, and effectuate the same protection. However, while this wording of Article I, Section 12, of the Utah Constitution and Section 77-1-8, Utah Code Annotated 1953, has not been construed by this Court, this provision of the Sixth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States of America was construed and held to apply to the states by the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States of America in the case of Washington v. Texas, 388 U. S. 14, 18 L. Ed. 2d 1019, 87 S. Ct. 1920 (1967). In that decision,

the Court first held that the enumerated right of an accused to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor is so fundamental to a fair trial that it is incorporated in the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. The Court then went on to state what was meant by this phrase:

"The right to offer the testimony of witnesses, and to compel their attendance, if necessary, is in plain terms, the right to present a defense, the right to present the defendant's version of the facts as well as the prosecution's to the jury so that it may decide where the truth lies. Just as an accused has the right to confront the prosecution's witnesses for the purpose of challenging their testimony, he has the right to present his own witnesses to establish a defense. The right is a fundamental element of due process of law." 388 U. S. at 19, 18 L. Ed. at 1023, 89 S. Ct. at \_\_\_\_\_.

The precise issue of Washington v. Texas, supra, was that a statute of the State of Texas prohibited testimony for any defendant from any persons charged or convicted as co-participants in the same crime as the defendant; however, such person could testify for the State. It was held that, as quoted above, this was an unconstitutional denial of the Sixth Amendment right to offer the testimony of a witness on behalf of the defendant.

In Part II of the Decision in Washington v. Texas, supra the United States Supreme Court carefully outlined the history of the gradual evolution by Common Law Courts of rules allowing parties to testify. It was carefully pointed out that this evolution was based on the idea that the evidence should be presented, and the jury or court should then be allowed to consider the credibility and weight of such testimony.

In the instant case, the erroneous rulings of the Trial Court as described in Point II of this Brief during the trial and in denying the petitioner's Motion for a New Trial denied the petitioner his right to offer the testimony of his witnesses as guaranteed by the Constitution and Laws of the State of Utah and the Constitution of the United States of America as heretofore described.

On the basis of either or both of the denials to the petitioner of Due Process of Law as heretofore set forth, this Court should consider this Petition for the Writ of Habeas Corpus and issue the Writ to correct the errors that occurred in the proceedings that resulted in the erroneous conviction of the petitioner, Max M. Johnson.

## POINT II.

IN HIS TRIAL ON FEBRUARY 8, 1968, THE PETITIONER WAS DENIED A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL TRIAL ON THE GROUNDS THAT THE DEFENDANT WAS NOT PERMITTED TO HAVE TESTIMONY FROM WITNESSES ON HIS BEHALF CONTRARY TO THE CONSTITUTION AND LAWS OF THE STATE OF UTAH AND THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA.

As may be readily determined by examination of pages 56 through 59 of the transcript, the proffered testimony of Kenneth Smith was ruled inadmissible by the Trial Court on the grounds that it was hearsay evidence. It is respectfully submitted by petitioner that the evidence offered was not properly excluded evidence and this erroneous ruling deprived the petitioner of his constitutionally protected right of presenting witnesses for his defense. Had Kenneth Smith been permitted to testify, he would have testified that Dan Newell had told him that Dan Newell had given Max M.

Johnson permission to take the guitar from his store to raise money (Tr. 56-58, Affidavit and Motion for New Trial). This statement was contrary to the testimony of Dan Newell during the course of the trial (Tr. 9, 11, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21) and was of major importance to the defense once it had been discovered. The testimony of Dan Newell on cross-examination admitted that he was a conspirator in a plan to raise money by issuing bad checks (Tr. 12-20) and this was confirmed by the testimony of Larry Rudd (Tr. 46-48, 50-52). This conspiracy had gone sour and Dan Newell wanted out (Tr. 9, 11, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 46-48, 50-52). The vital question for Max M. Johnson was then what were the terms of the conspiracy agreement (Tr. 12-20, 21, 47, 49-51). It was admitted that to get the "plan" going, there was an initial need for \$300.00 (Tr. 14, 15, 18, 47, 50, 51), and that Dan Newell gave Max M. Johnson the key to his shop (Tr. 7-8, 14, 15-16, 24, 51) so the question about which revolved his conviction was whether or not he had permission to take the guitar from the shop. Since it was the testimony of Dan Newell that Max M. Johnson had stolen his guitar, evidence of Newell's statement that the petitioner had his permission to take the guitar was of vital importance to the defense.

In the decision of State v. Siebert, 6 Utah 2d 198, 310 P.2d 388 (1957), this Court, speaking through Justice Crockett, stated:

"The term hearsay is applied to testimony offered to prove facts of which the witness has no personal knowledge, but which have been told to him by others. He is thus not testifying from his own knowledge or observation, but is acting as a conduit to relay that of others. The general rule, to which there are admittedly many exceptions, is that such testimony is not admissible on the grounds that it lacks trustworthiness for two basic reasons:

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