1969

## **Max M. Johnson v. John W. Turner, Warden, Utah State Prison : Brief of Respondent**

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF CASE

This is an appeal from a decision of the Fourth Judicial District Court, in and for Utah County, State of Utah, the Honorable Allen B. Sorensen, presiding, which denied the petitioner's application for writ of habeas corpus.

## DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The Honorable Allen B. Sorensen denied the petition on the grounds that the petition was used as a means of appellate review and that this was violative of Utah case law.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The respondent seeks an affirmation of the denial made by Judge Sorensen.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On February 8, 1968, Max M. Johnson was tried and convicted by a jury of the crime of grand larceny. Appearing as his counsel was Leon M. Frazier of Provo, Utah. A motion for a new trial was made and denied. Max Johnson was thereafter sentenced to a term at the Utah State Prison. No appeal from this trial was taken.

Thereafter, Mr. Johnson filed a petition for a writ of habeas corpus on October 16, 1968. The hearing on this matter was on January 20, 1969. LeRoy S. Axland, of the Salt Lake County Bar Legal Services, Inc., was assigned to represent Mr. Johnson. The petition was denied by the Honorable Stewart M. Hanson on January 21, 1969. No timely appeal was made.

Again Mr. Johnson brought a petition for writ of habeas corpus. This writ made two allegations which were not included in the prior writ: (1) that the trial

judge deprived Mr. Johnson of his constitutional rights in not allowing one Larry Rupp to give a complete testimony, and (2) that Johnson was denied the right to have witnesses testify on his behalf when the trial judge refused to allow Mr. Kenneth Smith to testify over a hearsay objection (R. 5). This petition was denied by Judge Allen B. Sorensen on the ground that the petition attempted to gain appellate review of matters which should have been appealed (R. 17).

It is from Judge Sorensen's ruling that the present case arises.

#### POINT I

#### A CRIMINAL DEFENDANT HAS NO CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO HAVE WITNESSES TESTIFY IN VIOLATION OF THE RULES OF EVIDENCE.

This case arises from a denial of Max Johnson's petition for habeas corpus dated June 26, 1969, and filed July 1, 1969. Only two allegations were made in that writ, and both of those allegations dealt with a related question -- whether a determination on hearsay or materiality, which prevents or hinders a witness from testifying, denies the criminal defendant his constitutional due process and equal protection rights.

The State does not argue with the contention of Max Johnson that due process includes the constitutional right to have compulsory process to compel the attendance of witnesses in his behalf. His claim is not that

the trial court denied him attendance of witnesses, but that the Sixth Amendment requires the Court to adjudge their testimony.

The right to have compulsory process to obtain witnesses does not supersede the established rules of evidence. If the desired testimony is immaterial, then the criminal defendant has no right to have compulsory process for obtaining that witness. If the witness obtained wishes to invoke a privilege and not testify, the criminal defendant is not deprived of his rights. *State v. Grapp*, 41 Wis.2d 312, 164 N.W.2d 266 (1969); *Bryant v. State*, 434 P.2d 498 (Okl. Cr. 1967).

In *U.S. v. Maloney*, 241 F. Supp. 49 (W.D. Penn. 1965), the Court said that the criminal defendant has a right to have compulsory process to obtain witnesses in his behalf and, therefore, to have subpoenas issued; however, the determination of whether or not a witness is allowed to take the stand is a discretionary matter to be dealt with by the trial judge.

The authority relied on by Mr. Johnson, *Washington v. Texas*, 388 U.S. 14, 18 L.Ed.2d 1019, 87 S.Ct. 192 (1967), does not stand for the proposition that a criminal defendant's witnesses must be allowed to testify or else the defendant has been denied due process of law. The precise issue which *Washington v. Texas* dealt with was whether a Texas statute deprived a criminal defendant of the Sixth Amendment rights. The Tex



statute prevented persons charged or convicted as co-participants in the same crime from testifying for one another, but allowed them to testify for the State.

The Court then called the Texas rule arbitrary because it prevented whole categories of defense witnesses from testifying. The United States Supreme Court's holding is quoted below:

"We hold that the petitioner in this case was denied his right to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor *because the State arbitrarily denied him the right to put on the stand a witness, who was physically and mentally capable of testifying to events that he had personally observed, and whose testimony would have been relevant and material to the defense.*" (Emphasis added.) 388 U.S. at 23, 18 L.Ed.2d at 1025, 87 S.Ct. at 1925.

A footnote at the bottom of the same page points out that the decision should not be construed as disapproving testimonial privileges or nonarbitrary state rules that disqualify persons who are incapable of observing or testifying about events.

The rules of materiality and of hearsay apply to both prosecutor and defendants. These rules are not arbitrary because they protect the jury from statements which are deemed to be incompetent, unreliable or irrelevant.

The *Washington* case has been noted in several law reviews. The following is taken from one of them.

"The basis of the decision in *Washington v. Texas* is that the compulsory process clause of the Sixth Amendment gives the defendant a right to put his co-participant on the stand. The compulsory process clause, however, cannot be construed to give the defendant a substantive right to have the testimony of his witness entered into evidence. It gives the defendant only the right to have compulsory process to obtain witnesses in this behalf — to have subpoenas issued for their appearance in court." 20 *Baylor L.Rev.* 472 (1968).

A criminal defendant, then, has a right to compel attendance of witnesses, but this right does not supersede nonarbitrary state rules of evidence. Max Johnson was not deprived of his constitutional rights when his witnesses were hindered or prevented from testifying. If the trial court's ruling was incorrect, such ruling should have been appealed.

## POINT II

UNDER UTAH LAW IT IS CLEAR THAT ISSUES WHICH SHOULD HAVE BEEN RAISED ON APPEAL CANNOT BE RAISED BY SUBSEQUENT HABEAS CORPUS PETITIONS.

Leon M. Frazier, counsel for Mr. Johnson in the lower court, made a motion for a new trial on February 13, 1968. This motion was heard on March 1, 1968, and

denied. The motion alleged that when the trial judge denied the testimony of Kenneth Smith, the defendant Johnson was prevented from having a fair and impartial trial. No appeal was taken from this denial.

Max Johnson now brings this action alleging basically the same point in his petition for habeas corpus. By so doing, he attempts to use the writ of habeas corpus as a means of appellate review. This is not the purpose for which the writ was established, and cannot be done. *Jaramillo v. Turner*, Case No. 11634, filed January 27, 1970.

When the same facts alleged in a petition for writ of habeas corpus were known to the petitioner at the time of his judgment, his proper remedy is not a writ. In the recent case of *Brown v. Turner*, 21 Utah 2d 96, 440 P.2d 968 (1968), the petitioner contended that he was denied a right to counsel and that he did not understand the consequences of his guilty plea. The Supreme Court of Utah held that the petitioner was not entitled to habeas corpus remedies. The court correctly pointed out the following:

“. . . If the contention of error is something which is known or should be known to the party at the time the judgment was entered, it must be reviewed in the manner and within the time permitted by regular prescribed procedure, or the judgment becomes final and is not subject to further attack, except in some such unusual circum-

stance as we have mentioned above. Were otherwise, the regular rules of procedure governing appeals and limitations of time specified therein would be rendered impotent." *Id.*, 21 Utah 2d at 98-99, 440 P.2d at 969.

### POINT III

#### MAX JOHNSON HAS NOT BEEN DENIED HIS RIGHT TO COUNSEL NOR HIS RIGHT TO APPEAL.

Mr. Johnson was represented by Leon Frazier during his trial. There was no appeal taken from this trial. Nowhere in the complaint is there a challenge made to counsel competency as applied to the appeal. Mr. Johnson was represented by LeRoy S. Axland at the hearing of his earlier petition for writ of habeas corpus. When that writ was denied no appeal was taken. Nowhere in the complaint is there a challenge made to a denial of the right to appeal this decision.

Utah has passed on this issue before. In the case of *Burleigh v. Turner*, 15 Utah 2d 118, 388 P.2d 412 (1964), the petitioner made the same legal move as Mr. Johnson. The court expressed the law in this manner:

"Appellant contends in his brief that the failure to appeal the Third District Court's judgment was due to the failure of counsel, appointed by this court, to prosecute the appeal. This matter was not presented in the pleadings or the hearing before the Fourth District Court. It is raised for the first time upon this appeal. Habeas corpus being a civil remedy it is not necessary for this

court to consider this point." *Id.* 15 Utah 2d at 120, 388 P.2d at 414.

It would therefore follow that the court need not consider the issue of competency as to counsel, since it was not challenged in Max Johnson's complaint and was not an issue before Judge Sorensen. Since habeas corpus is not a criminal remedy, some criminal rights do not apply.

There have been no findings of fact on this issue. No testimony has been received by any prior proceedings. The only information the court has on this subject is the appellant's statement of facts. The court is not compelled to believe self-interested witnesses. *State v. Knepper*, 18 Utah 2d 215, 418 P.2d 780 (1966); *Aagard v. Dayton & Miller Red-E-Mix Concrete Co.*, 12 Utah 2d 34, 361 P.2d 522 (1961). The competency of counsel is therefore not ripe for review.

Even if the court were to review the issue, the court would still have to find for the respondent.

In order to justify habeas corpus relief on the ground that the appointed counsel was inadequate, California requires the petitioner to show that the trial was reduced to a farce or sham. *In Re Beaty*, 54 Cal. 2d 760, 414 P.2d 837, 51 Cal.Rptr. 521 (1966).

In Arizona, the court allows a contention of depri-

vation of right to counsel to be asserted in habeas corpus proceedings only in extreme cases. If the appellant set forth no facts which indicate the appointed attorney's performance was so substandard as to render the trial a farce or sham, the petition is properly denied. *Burleigh v. State*, 7 Ariz.App. 223, 437 P.2d 975 (Ariz.App. 1968).

The Utah standard is a little different. In Utah, a habeas corpus remedy is allowed only if the circumstances indicate that it would be wholly unconscionable not to reexamine the petitioner's conviction. *Bryant v. Turner*, 19 Utah 2d 284, 431 P.2d 121 (1967). The method the Utah court uses in deciding this issue is to look at the record.

Note the last sentence in the *Burleigh v. Turner*, 7 Utah 2d 118, 388 P.2d 412 (1964), case. There the opinion writer makes a statement as to the guidelines the Court might follow in future cases. He said:

"However, we might note that even in a criminal case it is not a denial of due process for a defendant's attorney to fail to perfect an appeal." *Id.* at 120, 388 P.2d at 414.

The Supreme Court of Arizona made the following statement:

"We hold that, as in this case, a convicted felon may acquiesce in the advice and decision of counsel not to appeal, so as to make that decision his own. We will not recognize the claim that the decision

of counsel in which he acquiesced deprived him of the right to counsel within the meaning of the Sixth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States so as to permit a collateral attack on the judgment of conviction by habeas corpus or to permit it to be asserted as the basis of good cause for a delayed appeal." *State v. Montez*, 102 Ariz. 444, 432 P.2d 456 at 459 (1967).

Since the record is devoid of any suggestion of bad faith, absent a showing that the proceedings were reduced to a farce or sham, and in light of the fact that Mr. Johnson had counsel, this Court must affirm Judge Sorensen's denial.

### CONCLUSION

For the reasons submitted, the Respondent urges this Honorable Court to affirm the decision of Judge Sorensen and deny the petition for writ of habeas corpus.